# Understanding Industrial Property





The user is allowed to reproduce, distribute, adapt, translate and publicly perform this publication, including for commercial purposes, without explicit permission, provided that the content is accompanied by an acknowledgement that WIPO is the source and that it is clearly indicated if changes were made to the original content.

Adaptation/translation/derivatives should not carry any official emblem or logo, unless they have been approved and validated by WIPO. Please contact us via the WIPO website to obtain permission.

For any derivative work, please include the following disclaimer: "The Secretariat of WIPO assumes no liability or responsibility with regard to the transformation or translation of the original content."

When content published by WIPO, such as images, graphics, trademarks or logos, is attributed to a third-party, the user of such content is solely responsible for clearing the rights with the right holder(s).

To view a copy of this license, please visit https://creative commons.org/licenses/by/3.0/igo/

The designations employed and the presentation of material throughout this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of WIPO concerning the legal status of any country, territory or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries.

This publication is not intended to reflect the views of the Member States or the WIPO Secretariat.

The mention of specific companies or products of manufacturers does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by WIPO in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned.

© WIPO, 2016

First published 2005 Second edition 2016

World Intellectual Property Organization 34, chemin des Colombettes, P.O. Box 18 CH-1211 Geneva 20, Switzerland

ISBN: 978-92-805-2588-5



Attribution 3.0 IGO license (CC BY 3.0 IGO)

Photo credits: istockphoto.com/chatchaisurakram

Printed in Switzerland

## **Table of Contents**

Introduction
Intellectual Property
The Two Branches of Intellectual Property

Patents for Invention

**Utility Models** 

Industrial Designs

Intellectual Property with Regard to Integrated Circuits

Trademarks

**Trade Names** 

Geographical Indications

Protection against Unfair Competition

The Role of WIPO
Table of Instruments and
International Agreements Administered by WIPO

Further information

## Introduction

This publication provides an introduction to industrial property for non-specialists. It explains in general terms the principles underpinning industrial property rights, and describes the most common forms of industrial property, including patents and utility models for inventions, industrial designs, trademarks and geographical indications. It also outlines the means by which creators can seek protection for their industrial property.

Detailed legal or administrative guidance, for example on how to apply for protection or deal with infringement of industrial property rights, is not covered here, but can be obtained from national intellectual property offices. The "Further Information" section also lists some useful websites for readers seeking greater depth.

A separate publication, Understanding Copyright and Related Rights, offers an equivalent introduction to the subject of copyright.

A separate publication, Understanding Copyright and Related Rights, offers an equivalent introduction to the subject of copyright.

#### **Intellectual Property**

Industrial property legislation is part of the wider body of law known as intellectual property (IP) which refers broadly to the creations of the human mind. IP rights protect the interests of innovators and creators by giving them rights over their creations.

The Convention Establishing the World Intellectual Property Organization (1967) does not seek to define IP, but lists the following as protected by IP rights:

- · literary, artistic and scientific works;
- performances of performing artists, phonograms and broadcasts;
- inventions in all fields of human endeavor;
- scientific discoveries:
- · industrial designs;
- trademarks, service marks, and commercial names and designations;
- protection against unfair competition; and
- "all other rights resulting from intellectual activity in the industrial, scientific, literary or artistic fields".

The importance of protecting IP was first recognized in the *Paris Convention for the Protection of Industrial Property* (1883) (Paris Convention) and the *Berne Convention for the Protection of Literary and Artistic Works* (1886) (Berne Convention). Both treaties are administered by the World Intellectual Property Organization (WIPO).

Countries generally have laws to protect IP for two main reasons:

- to give statutory expression to the rights of creators and innovators in their creations and innovations, balanced against the public interest in accessing creations and innovations;
- to promote creativity and innovation, so contributing to economic and social development.

#### The Two Branches of Intellectual Property

IP is usually divided into two branches, namely industrial property and copyright.

#### Copyright

Copyright relates to literary and artistic creations, such as books, music, paintings and sculptures, films and technology-based works (such as computer programs and electronic databases). In certain languages, copyright is referred to as authors' rights. Although international law has brought about some convergence, this distinction reflects a historic difference in the evolution of these rights that is still reflected in many copyright systems. The expression copyright refers to the act of copying an original work which, in respect of literary and artistic creations, may be done only by the author or with the author's permission. The expression authors' rights refers to the creator of an artistic work, its author, thus underlining that, as recognized in most laws, authors have certain specific rights in their creations that only they can exercise, which are often referred to as moral rights, such as the right to prevent distorted reproductions of the work. Other rights, such as the right to make copies, can be exercised by third parties with the author's permission, for example by a publisher who obtains a license to this effect from the author.

#### **Industrial Property**

The broad application of the term "industrial property" is set out in the Paris Convention.

Industrial property takes a range of forms, the main types of which are outlined here. These include patents for inventions, industrial designs (aesthetic creations related to the appearance of industrial products), trademarks, service marks, layout-designs of integrated circuits, commercial names and designations, geographical indications and protection against unfair competition. In some cases, aspects of an intellectual creation, although present, are less clearly defined. What counts then is that the object of industrial property consists of signs conveying information, in particular to consumers, regarding products and services offered on the market. Protection is directed against unauthorized use of such signs that could mislead consumers, and against misleading practices in general.

"Industrial property shall be understood in the broadest sense and shall apply not only to industry and commerce proper, but likewise to agricultural and extractive industries and to all manufactured or natural products, for example, wines, grain, tobacco leaf, fruit, cattle, minerals, mineral waters, beer, flowers, and flour."

Paris Convention - Article 1(3)

#### **Patents for Invention**

Most laws dealing with the protection of inventions do not actually define what an invention is. A number of countries, however, define inventions as new solutions to technical problems. The problem may be old or new, but the solution, in order to be considered an invention, must be a new one. Merely discovering something that already exists in nature will not generally qualify as an invention; an adequate amount of human ingenuity, creativity and inventiveness must be involved. But an invention need not be technically complex: the safety pin was an invention that solved a "technical" problem.

Patents, also referred to as patents for invention, are the most widespread means of protecting technical inventions. The patent system is designed to contribute to the promotion of innovation and the transfer and dissemination of technology, to the mutual advantage of inventors, users of inventions and the general public.

Simply put, once a patent is granted by a state or by a regional office acting for several states, the owner of a patent has the right to prevent anyone else from commercially exploiting the invention for a limited period, generally 20 years. The patent applicant must disclose the invention in order to obtain protection, and their rights can be enforced only within the territory in which the patent was granted.

Patents are the most widespread means of protecting technical inventions.

By granting an exclusive right, patents provide incentives, offering inventors recognition for their creativity and material reward for their marketable inventions.

These incentives encourage innovation, which in turn contributes to continued enhancement of the quality of life. In return for the exclusive right, the inventor must adequately disclose the patented invention to the public, so that others have access to the new knowledge, leading to further innovation. The disclosure of the invention is thus an essential consideration in any patent granting procedure.

The word "patent", or "letters patent", also denotes the document issued by the relevant government authority. In order to obtain a patent for an invention, the inventor, or often the inventor's employer, submits an application to the national or regional patent office concerned. In the application, the applicant must describe the invention in detail and compare it with previous existing technologies in the same field in order to demonstrate that it is new.

Not all inventions are patentable. Patent laws generally require that an invention fulfill the following conditions, known as the requirements or **conditions of patentability**:

- Patentable subject matter. The invention must fall within the scope of patentable subject matter as defined by national law. This varies from one country to another. Many countries exclude from patentability such subject matter as scientific theories, mathematical methods, plant or animal varieties, discoveries of natural substances, methods for medical treatment (as opposed to medical products), and any invention where prevention of commercial exploitation is necessary to protect public order, morality or public health.
- Industrial applicability (utility). The invention must be of practical use, or capable of some kind of industrial application.
- Novelty. The invention must show some new characteristic that is not known in the body of existing knowledge (referred to as prior art) in its technical field.
- Inventive step (non-obviousness). The invention must show an inventive step that could not be deduced by a person with average knowledge of the technical field.
- Disclosure of the invention. The invention must be disclosed in a clear and complete manner in the patent application to be carried out by a person skilled in the art (a person conversant in the field of technology concerned).

The conditions of novelty and inventive step must be fulfilled by a certain date, generally the date on which the application is filed. An exception to this rule, covered by an applicant's right of priority, is regulated by the Paris Convention. The right of priority means that, having filed an application in one member country of the Paris Convention, the same applicant (or their successor in title) may, within a specified time period, apply for protection for the same invention in any of the other member countries. These subsequent applications will not be invalidated by reason of any acts occurred between the filing date of the earliest application and the subsequent applications.

For example, if an inventor first files an application for patent protection in Japan, and later a second application, with respect to the same invention, in France, it is sufficient that the conditions of novelty and non-obviousness existed at the date on which the Japanese application was filed. In other words, the later, French application retains priority over any applications relating to the same invention filed by other applicants between the date of the inventor's first and second application. This is subject to the period between the two dates not exceeding 12 months.

It is customary to distinguish between inventions that consist of products and inventions that consist of processes. The creation of a new alloy is an example of a product invention. The invention of a new method or process of making a known or new alloy is a process invention. The cor-

responding patents are usually referred to respectively as a **product patent** and a **process patent**.

The person to whom a patent is granted is known as the **patentee**, the owner of the patent or the patent holder. Once a patent has been granted with respect to a particular country, anyone who wishes to exploit the invention commercially in that country must obtain the patentee's authorization. In principle, anyone who exploits a patented invention without the patentee's authorization commits an illegal act. Protection is granted for a limited period, generally 20 years.

Once a patent expires, the protection ends, and the invention enters the public domain (also known as being "off patent").

The patentee no longer holds exclusive rights to the invention, which then becomes available for commercial exploitation by others.

The rights conferred by a patent are described in the patent law of the country in which the patent is granted. The patent owner's **exclusive rights** generally consist of the following:

- in the case of a product patent, the right to prevent third parties from making, using, offering for sale or selling the product, or importing it for these purposes, without the owner's consent; and
- in the case of a process patent, the right to prevent third parties from using the process without the owner's consent; and to prevent third parties from using, offering for sale or selling the products obtained directly by that process, or importing them for these purposes, without the owner's consent.

The patentee is *not* given a statutory right to exploit the invention, but rather a statutory right to prevent others from commercially exploiting it. Patentees may give permission, or grant a **license**, to other parties to use their inventions on mutually agreed terms. They may also sell their patent rights to someone else, who then becomes the new patent owner.

There are certain exceptions to the principle that a patented invention cannot legally be exploited without the authorization of the patent owner. These exceptions take into account the balance between the legitimate interests of the patent holder and those of competitors, consumers and others. For example, many patent laws allow a patented invention to be exploited without the patentee's authorization: private acts for non-commercial purposes; acts for experimental purposes or scientific research; and acts for obtaining regulatory approval for pharmaceuticals. In addition, many laws provide for various situations under which compulsory licenses may be granted and government's use of patented inventions without the authorization of the patent owner may be allowed in the wider public interest.

Once a patent expires, the protection ends and the invention enters the public domain.

# **Utility Models**

Although not as widespread as patents, utility models are also used to protect inventions. The rights conferred by utility models are similar to patent rights.

Utility models are found in the laws of more than 50 countries, as well as in the regional agreements of the African Regional Intellectual Property Organization (ARIPO) and the African Intellectual Property Organization (OAPI). In addition, certain countries, such as Australia and Malaysia, provide for titles of protection called **innovation patents** or **utility innovations** which are similar to utility models. Other countries, like Ireland and Slovenia, have a short-term patent equivalent to the utility model. The expression "utility model" refers to a title of protection for certain inventions, such as inventions in the mechanical field.

Utility model protection is usually sought for technically less complex inventions or for inventions that have a short commercial life. The procedure for obtaining protection for a utility model is usually simpler than that for seeking patent protection. Substantive and procedural requirements under the applicable laws vary widely among the countries and regions with a utility model system; however, utility models usually differ from patents for invention in the following main respects:

- The requirements for acquiring a utility model are less stringent than for patents. While the "novelty" requirement must always be met, that of "inventive step" (or "non-obviousness") may be much less evident or absent altogether. In practice, protection for utility models is often sought for innovations of an incremental nature that may not meet patentability criteria.
- The maximum term of protection provided for by law for a utility model is generally shorter than that provided for a patent for invention, usually between 7 and 10 years.
- The fees required for obtaining and maintaining the right are generally lower than those for patents.

# **Industrial Designs**

Industrial designs are applied to a wide variety of industrial products and handicrafts. They refer to the ornamental or aesthetic aspects of an article, including compositions of lines or colors or any three-dimensional forms that give a special appearance to a product or handicraft. The design must have aesthetic appeal. Moreover, it must be able to be reproduced by industrial means; this is the essential purpose of the design and the reason the design is called "industrial".

In a legal sense, an industrial design refers to the right granted in many countries, pursuant to a registration system, to protect the original, ornamental and nonfunctional features of a product resulting from design activity.

Aesthetic appeal is one of the main factors influencing consumers in their product choice. Where the technical performance of a product offered by different manufacturers is relatively similar, consumers will make their selection based on price and aesthetic appeal.

In registering their industrial designs, manufacturers protect one of the creative elements that determine market success.

By rewarding creators for their efforts, industrial design protection also serves as an incentive to invest in design activity. One of the basic aims of industrial design protection is to stimulate the design element of production. Industrial design laws therefore usually only protect designs that can be used in industry, or that can be produced on a large scale.

This condition of industrial production is a notable difference between industrial design protection and copyright, since the latter concerns only aesthetic creations. However, in some cases, industrial designs may qualify for protection under copyright, for example where the design can be categorized as a work of applied art.

Industrial designs can generally be protected if they are **new or original**. Designs may not meet these criteria if they do not differ significantly from other existing designs or combinations thereof.

In most industrial design laws, designs dictated solely by the article's function are excluded from protection. If the design for an article produced by many manufacturers, such as a screw, were to be dictated purely by the function the screw was intended to perform, then protection for that design would have the effect of excluding all other manufacturers from producing items intended to perform the same function. Such exclusion is not warranted unless the design is sufficiently novel and inventive to qualify for patent protection.

In other words, the legal protection offered by industrial designs concerns only the **design** that is applied to, or embodied in, articles or products. This protection does not prevent other manufacturers from producing or dealing in similar articles or products, as long as these do not embody or reproduce the protected design.

Industrial design registration protects against unauthorized exploitation of the design in industrial articles. It grants the owner of the design the **exclusive right** to make, import, sell, hire or offer for sale articles to which the design is applied or in which the design is embodied.

The term for an industrial design right varies from country to country. The usual **maximum term** is from 10 to 25 years, often divided into terms requiring the proprietor to renew the registration in order to obtain an extension of protection. The relatively short period of protection may be related to the association of designs with more general styles of fashion, which tend to enjoy somewhat transient acceptance or success, particularly in highly fashion-conscious areas such as clothing or footwear.

# Intellectual Property with Regard to Integrated Circuits

Although prefabricated components of electrical circuitry have been used in the manufacture of electrical equipment (such as radios) for some time, large-scale integration of a multitude of electrical functions in a very small component became possible as a result of advances in semiconductor technology. Integrated circuits are manufactured in accordance with very detailed plans or layout-designs.

The layout-designs of integrated circuits are creations of the human mind. They are usually the result of vast investment, in terms both of expertise and financial resources. There is a continuing need for the creation of new layout-designs that simultaneously reduce the dimensions of existing integrated circuits and increase their functions. The smaller an integrated circuit, the less material is needed for its manufacture, and the smaller the space needed to accommodate it. Integrated circuits are used in a wide range of products, including articles of everyday use such as watches, televisions, washing machines and cars, as well as sophisticated computers and servers.

The layout-designs of integrated circuits are creations of the human mind.

Although creating a new layout-design for an integrated circuit involves a major investment, it is possible to copy layout-designs for a fraction of that cost. Copying may be done by photographing each layer of an integrated circuit and preparing masks for the production of the integrated circuit on the basis of those photographs. The high cost of creating layout-designs and the relative ease of copying them are the main reasons they need protection.

Layout-designs of integrated circuits are not considered industrial designs in the sense described in the laws providing for the registration of industrial designs. This is because they do not determine the external appearance of integrated circuits but rather the physical location, within the integrated circuit, of each element having an electronic function. Moreover, layout-designs of integrated circuits are not normally patentable inventions, because their creation usually does not involve an inventive step - even though it requires a great deal of work by an expert. Furthermore, copyright protection may not apply if national law determines that layout-designs cannot be copyrighted.

In response to the uncertainty surrounding the protection of layout-designs, the WIPO Treaty on Intellectual Property in Respect of Integrated Circuits was adopted on May 26, 1989. The Treaty has not entered into force; however, its substantive provisions have, to a large extent, been incorporated by reference in the Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights (TRIPS Agreement), concluded in 1994.

#### **Trademarks**

A trademark is a sign, or a combination of signs, that distinguishes the goods or services of one company from those of another.

Such signs may use words, letters, numerals, pictures, shapes and colors, or any combination thereof. An increasing number of countries also allow for the registration of less traditional forms of trademarks, such as **three-dimensional signs** (like the Coca-Cola bottle or Toblerone chocolate bar), **audible signs** (sounds such as the roar of the lion at the beginning of films produced by MGM), or **olfactory signs** (such as the smell of a particular type of motor oil or embroidery yarn). However, many countries have set limits on what may be registered as a trademark, generally allowing only signs that are visually perceptible or can be represented graphically.

Trademarks are used on goods or in connection with the marketing of goods or services. The trademark may appear not only on the goods themselves but also on the container or packaging in which the goods are marketed. When used in connection with the sale of goods or services, the sign may appear in advertisements, for example, in newspapers, on television or in shop windows.

An increasing number of countries also allow for the registration of less traditional forms of trademarks, such as three-dimensional signs, audible signs, or olfactory signs.

In addition to trademarks identifying the commercial source of goods or services, several other categories of marks exist.

**Collective marks** are owned by an association, such as an association representing accountants or engineers, whose members use the mark to identify them with a particular level of quality and other requirements set by the association.

**Certification marks**, such as the Woolmark, are given for compliance with defined standards, but are not confined to any membership of an association.

A trademark used in connection with services is called a **service mark**. Service marks are used, for example, by hotels, restaurants, airlines, tourist agencies, car-rental agencies, laundries and cleaners. All that has been said about trademarks also applies to service marks.

Broadly speaking, trademarks perform four main **functions**:

- Distinguish the products or services of one company from those of other companies. Trademarks facilitate the choice to be made by consumers when buying certain products or using certain services. The trademark helps consumers to identify a product or service they are already familiar with or one that has been advertised. The distinctive character of a mark must be evaluated in relation to the goods or services to which the mark is applied. For example, the word "apple" or the image of an apple cannot distinguish apples, but it is distinctive for computers. Trademarks not only distinguish products or services as such, they also distinguish them in relation to the company offering the products or services.
- Refer to a particular company, not necessarily known to the consumer, that offers the products or services on the market. Trademarks therefore distinguish products or services from a given source from identical or similar products or services from other sources. This function is important in defining the scope of trademark protection.
- Refer to a particular quality of the product or service for which a mark is used, so that consumers can rely on the consistent quality of the goods or services offered under that mark. This function is commonly referred to as the quarantee function of trademarks. A

trademark is not always used by only one company, since the trademark owner may grant licenses to use the trademark to other companies. It is accordingly essential that licensees respect the quality standards of the trademark owner. Moreover, companies often use trademarks for products they acquire from various sources in the course of business. In such cases. trademark owners are not responsible for producing the products, but instead (and this may be equally important) for selecting those that meet their quality standards and requirements. Even where trademark owners are the manufacturers of a particular product, they may use parts they have selected but not produced.

 Promote the marketing and sale of products, and the marketing and provision of services. Trademarks are not only used to distinguish or refer to a particular company or quality, but also to stimulate sales. A trademark used in this way must be carefully selected. It must appeal to the consumer, create interest and inspire a feeling of confidence. This is sometimes called the communication function. The owner of a registered trademark has an **exclusive right** in respect of the mark: the right to use the mark and to prevent unauthorized third parties from using it, or a confusingly similar mark, so as to prevent consumers and the public in general from being misled. The period of protection varies, but a trademark can be renewed indefinitely on payment of the necessary fees and on condition that the mark is used. Trademark protection is enforced by the courts which, in most systems, have the authority to block trademark infringement.

A trademark can be renewed indefinitely on payment of the necessary fees.

#### **Trade Names**

Another category of industrial property covers commercial names and designations. A commercial or trade name is the name or designation that identifies a company. In most countries, trade names may be registered with a government authority. However, under Article 8 of the Paris Convention, a trade name must be protected without the obligation of filing or registration, whether or not it forms part of a trademark. Protection generally means that the trade name of one company may not be used by another company, either as a trade name or a trade or service mark – and that a name or designation similar to the trade name may not be used by another company if it is likely to mislead the public.

## **Geographical Indications**

A geographical indication is a sign used on goods that have a specific geographical origin and possess qualities or a reputation due to that place of origin.

Agricultural products typically have qualities deriving from their place of production and that are influenced by specific **local factors**, such as climate and soil. Whether a sign functions as an indication is a matter of national law and consumer perception. Geographical indications may be used for a wide variety of agricultural products, such as "Tuscany" for olive oil produced in a specific area of Italy, or "Roquefort" for cheese produced in a certain region of France.

The use of geographical indications is not limited to agricultural products. They may also highlight particular qualities of a product that are due to **human factors** found in the product's place of origin, such as specific manufacturing skills and traditions. That place of origin may be a village or town, a region or a country. An example of a country geographical indication is "Switzerland" or "Swiss" for products made in Switzerland, in particular watches.

An appellation of origin is a special kind of geographical indication used on products that have a specific quality exclusively or essentially due to the geographical environment in which the products are produced. The term geographical indication encompasses appellations of origin. Examples of appellations of origin

protected in states party to the Lisbon Agreement for the Protection of Appellations of Origin and their International Registration are "Habana", for tobacco grown in the Havana region of Cuba, and "Tequila", for spirits produced in particular areas of Mexico.

Geographical indications are protected in accordance with national laws in a wide range of ways, such as under laws against unfair competition, consumer protection laws, laws for the protection of certification marks or special laws for the protection of geographical indications or appellations of origin. In essence, unauthorized parties may not use geographical indications where that use is likely to mislead the public as to the true origin of the product. Applicable sanctions range from court injunctions preventing unauthorized use to the payment of damages and fines or, in serious cases, imprisonment.

# Protection against Unfair Competition

Article 10*bis* of the Paris Convention requires member countries to provide for protection against unfair competition. According to this article, the following acts of competition are considered contrary to honest trade and industry practices:

- all acts of such a nature as to create confusion with the establishment, the goods or the industrial or commercial activities of a competitor;
- false allegations in the course of trade
  of such a nature as to discredit the
  establishment, the goods or the industrial or commercial activities of a
  competitor; and
- indications or allegations, the use of which in the course of trade are liable to mislead the public as to the characteristics of certain goods.

Protection against unfair competition supplements the protection of inventions, industrial designs, trademarks and geographical indications. It is particularly important for the protection of knowledge, technology or information that is not protected by a patent but that may be required in order to make best use of a patented invention.

#### The Role of WIPO

WIPO is an international organization dedicated to promoting creativity and innovation by ensuring that the rights of creators and owners of IP are protected worldwide, and that inventors and authors are recognized and rewarded for their ingenuity.

As a specialized agency of the United Nations, WIPO provides a forum for its member states to create and harmonize **rules** and practices for protecting IP rights. Most developed countries have protection systems that are centuries old, while developing countries continue to create legal and administrative frameworks to protect their patents, trademarks, designs and copyright. WIPO assists its member states in developing these new systems through treaty negotiation, legal and technical assistance, and training in various forms, including in the area of enforcement of IP rights.

WIPO provides a forum for its member states to create and harmonize rules and practices for protecting IP rights WIPO also provides international registration systems for trademarks, industrial designs and appellations of origin, and an international filing system for patents. These systems greatly simplify the process of seeking IP protection simultaneously in a large number of countries. Instead of having to file separate national applications, in different languages, in each country in which protection is sought, applicants can file a single application, in one language, with a single application fee.

The WIPO-administered systems include four different mechanisms of protection for specific industrial property rights:

- the Patent Cooperation Treaty (PCT) System, for filing patent applications in multiple countries;
- the Madrid System for the International Registration of Marks, for trade and service marks;
- the Hague System for the International Registration of Industrial Designs; and
- the Lisbon System for the International Registration of Appellations of Origin.

Anyone applying for a patent or registering a trademark or design, whether at the national or international level, needs to determine whether their creation is new or already owned or claimed by someone else. To do this, huge amounts of information must be searched. Four WIPO treaties have created classification systems that organize information on different branches of industrial property into indexed, manageable structures for easy retrieval. They are:

- the Strasbourg Agreement Concerning the International Patent Classification;
- the Nice Agreement Concerning the International Classification of Goods and Services for the Purposes of the Registration of Marks;
- the Vienna Agreement Establishing an International Classification of the Figurative Elements of Marks; and
- the Locarno Agreement Establishing an International Classification for Industrial Designs.

The WIPO Arbitration and Mediation Center provides services for the resolution of international IP disputes between private parties. Such proceedings can include contractual disputes (such as patent and software licenses, trademark coexistence agreements, and research and development agreements) and non-contractual disputes (such as patent infringement).

The Center is also recognized as the leading dispute resolution service provider for disputes arising from the abusive registration and use of Internet domain names.

#### Industrial Property Protection: Instruments and International Agreements Administered by WIPO

Instruments of protection	What they protect	Relevant international agreements
Patents and utility models	Inventions	<ul> <li>Paris Convention for the Protection of Industrial Property (1883)</li> <li>Patent Cooperation Treaty (1970)</li> <li>Budapest Treaty on the International Recognition of the Deposit of Microorganisms for the Purposes of Patent Procedure (1977)</li> <li>Strasbourg Agreement Concerning the International Patent Classification (1971)</li> <li>Patent Law Treaty (2000)</li> </ul>
Industrial designs	Independently created industrial designs that are new or original	<ul> <li>Hague Agreement Concerning the International Registration of Industrial Designs (1925)</li> <li>Locarno Agreement Establishing an International Classification for Industrial Designs (1968)</li> </ul>
Trademarks, certification marks and collective marks	Distinguishing signs and symbols	<ul> <li>Madrid Agreement for the Repression of False or Deceptive Indications of Source on Goods (1891)</li> <li>Madrid Agreement Concerning the International Registration of Marks (1891)</li> <li>Protocol Relating to the Madrid Agreement Concerning the International Registration of Marks (1989)</li> <li>Nice Agreement Concerning the International Classification of Goods and Services for the Purposes of the Registration of Marks (1957)</li> <li>Vienna Agreement Establishing an International Classification of the Figurative Elements of Marks (1973)</li> <li>Trademark Law Treaty (1994)</li> <li>Singapore Treaty on the Law of Trademarks (2006)</li> </ul>
Geographical indications and appellations of origin	Geographical names linked to a country, region or locality	<ul> <li>Lisbon Agreement for the Protection of Appellations of Origin and their International Registration (1958)</li> </ul>
Integrated circuits	Layout-designs	<ul> <li>Washington Treaty on Intellectual Property in Respect of Integrated Circuits (1989)</li> </ul>
Protection against unfair competition	Honest practices	<ul> <li>Paris Convention for the Protection of Industrial Property (1883)</li> </ul>

#### **Further information**

Further information about industrial property, including detailed guidance on using the global filing and registration systems, is available on WIPO's website and in a range of WIPO publications.

WIPO website: www.wipo.int

The full texts of all WIPO **treaties** regulating IP protection: www.wipo.int/treaties

To download WIPO publications: www.wipo.int/publications



World Intellectual Property Organization 34, chemin des Colombettes P.O. Box 18 CH-1211 Geneva 20 Switzerland

Tel: +41 22 338 91 11 Fax:+41 22 733 54 28

For contact details of WIPO's External Offices visit: www.wipo.int/about-wipo/en/offices/

WIPO Publication No. 895E ISBN 978-92-805-2588-5